IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01622

DOT MERCHANT, as Administratrix of THE ESTATE OF CHARLES ERNIE HARRIS, SR. and on behalf of all WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES of CHARLES ERNIE HARRIS, SR.

APPELLANTS

V.

FOREST FAMILY PRACTICE CLINIC, P.A., JOHN P. LEE, M.D., and JOHN DOES 1-10

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SCOTT COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI TRIAL COURT NO.:

BRIEF OF THE APPELANT

ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED

Shane F. Langston, Esquire (MSB No. Rebecca M. Langston, Esq. (MSB No. LANGSTON & LANGSTON, PLLC 201 North President Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone No.: 601-969-1356 Attorney for Appellant

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Appellee defendant Dr. John P. Lee ("Dr. Lee") has for decades been a prominent physician in rural Scott County, Mississippi. Dr. Lee's son, Mike Lee, prior to the trial of this cause and throughout the trial was the SHERIFF OF SCOTT COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI; and pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §19-25-35 (1972) Sheriff Lee was at all relevant times the "executive officer of the <u>circuit</u> and chancery court of his county [SCOTT]"; and pursuant to said statute Sheriff Lee was obligated to "attend all the sessions thereof with a sufficient number of deputies or bailiffs." For these and other reasons set forth below, was the lower court's denial of the Harris Family's motion to transfer venue pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §11-11-51 (1972) an abuse of discretion requiring reversal?

2. Not content with the jury bias and prejudice that already existed, counsel for Dr. Lee during the trial of this cause deliberately introduced irrelevant and inflammatory "testimony" by announcing that counsel for the Harris Family "is suing Dr. Howard Clark just up the road." Dr. Clark, who has been a resident and physician in this community for more than fifty-three (53) years and who has delivered more than 4,500 babies in this rural county, owned the <u>only</u> other medical clinic in Scott County. Further, Dr. Clark's son is the only chancery court judge in Scott County. Did the lower court err and abuse its discretion in denying the Harris Family's motion for mistrial and new trial in response to this improper, inflammatory and intentionally prejudicial remark?

3. The Harris Family in its post-trial motions introduced clear and uncontradicted evidence of juror misconduct. Notwithstanding the potential for reprisal at the hands of the Scott County Sherriff's Department, juror Maria Lopez had the courage to come forward post-trial and testify under oath that juror Clyde Lowden violated Judge Gordon's "curative" instruction to disregard opposite counsel's prejudicial disclosure that the Harris Family's undersigned counsel "is suing Dr. Howard Clark just up the road." Ms. Lopez revealed that juror Lowden used this inflammatory disclosure and his claim that he was a diabetic patient of Dr. Lee and Dr. Clark to change juror votes and cause the jury to return a verdict against the Harris Family. Did the lower court err and abuse its discretion when denying the Harris Family's post-trial motions for new trial on these grounds and others?

4. The lower court abused its discretion when denying the Harris Family's challenges to strike jurors in the venire for cause. The lower court, for example, refused to strike for cause a juror who during the Monday *voir dire* disclosed that she and her family were long time patients of Dr. Lee and that she was taking her son to be examined by appellee Dr. Lee on

<u>Friday of this same week.</u> (R. 33.) Other potential jurors that the lower court refused to strike for cause had close connections with Sheriff Lee. (See discussion below, pp. 7-12.) The Harris Family was forced to use seven peremptory challenges to strike these and other similarly situated jurors. Did such abuses of discretion, compounded with the many other errors, deprive the Harris Family of the protections of due process guaranteed Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Miss. Const. art. III, §14, and justify reversal?

5. Further, and unbeknownst to the Harris Family until after the trial, the <u>son</u> of courtroom officer and Scott County Circuit Court Clerk Joe Rigby was at the time of trial employed as Deputy Sheriff of the Scott County Sheriff's Department serving at the will and pleasure of appellee Dr. Lee's son.¹ Circuit Court Clerk Rigby, of course, is responsible for issuing summonses to jurors and participates throughout the trial proceedings. He physically hands trial exhibits to jurors and is interacting and communicating with jurors throughout the trial. Also, the Harris Family presented uncontradicted evidence that Circuit Court Clerk Rigby "winked" in the direction of juror Lowden identified above when Dr. Lee's expert witness offered opinion testimony favorable to Dr. Lee. Juror Lowden, coincidentally or not, is the juror to whom Circuit Clerk Rigby physically handed the trial exhibits when the court ordered the jury to retire for deliberations.² (R. 512, 514-17.) The overwhelming showing of juror bias and prejudice discussed above combined with the additional evidence of the Circuit Court Clerk's improper gestures to the jury and his son's employment as a Deputy Sheriff mandated that the

¹ The Harris family learned that Circuit Court Clerk Rigby was the father of a Deputy Sheriff when following the trial the <u>Clarion-Ledger</u> published an unrelated newspaper article featuring Deputy Sheriff Joey Rigby's under water "snake catching" skills.

² Rebecca Langston, Esq., co-counsel for the Harris Family, personally witnessed the "wink" incident and described it under oath during post-trial proceedings. (R. 512, 514-17.) Ms. Langston also testified that when Judge Gordon instructed the jury to retire for deliberations Circuit Clerk Rigby personally delivered the trial exhibits to juror Lowden. Circuit Clerk Rigby testified after Ms. Langston and offered no testimony denying the "wink" incident or the fact that he delivered the trial exhibits to Lowden.

court grant a new trial. Was the lower court's denial of the Harris Family's motion for new trial on these grounds an abuse of discretion requiring reversal?

6. Even if none of the above errors standing alone justify reversal, do these errors when combined show that the Harris Family was deprived of their fundamental right to a fair trial in violation of the due process clauses of the United States Constitution and Mississippi Constitution?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. Nature of the Case

This is a medical malpractice case where the Harris Family claimed that medical negligence on the part of Dr. Lee and his clinic proximately caused the amputation of the leg of Charles Harris, Sr., deceased, and ultimately his death. Following the lower court's denial of the Harris Family's motion to change venue (and a renewed motion on the day of trial), the jury was selected and the case was tried for 3 days. During the course of the trial the Harris Family moved multiple times for a mistrial. All such motions were denied. On the third day of trial the jury returned a verdict in favor of appellees Dr. Lee and Forrest Family Practice Clinic. P.A. (the "Clinic"). The jury was polled revealing that nine jurors (including juror Clyde Lowden discussed below) voted in favor of the appellees while two jurors voted in favor of the Harris Family and one remained undecided. Final Judgment was entered on June 11, 2009.

The Harris Family timely filed their post-trial motions for a new trial and renewed their motion for change of venue. Also, pursuant to Rule 3.10 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules and Miss. R. Evid. 606(b) the Harris Family filed their motion to "Investigate Juror Misconduct" and set aside the verdict on grounds of juror misconduct. After an evidentiary

hearing and argument of counsel, the lower court denied all such post-trial motions. The Harris Family timely perfected their appeal pursuant to Miss. R. App. P. 3.

b. Statement of the Facts

(1) The medicine. The Harris Family presented competent and compelling evidence at trial that on no fewer than three separate visits to the appellee Dr. Lee and his co-defendant Clinic that Dr. Lee misdiagnosed Charles Harris, Sr.'s, deceased, medical condition. (R.) On these visits, Dr. Lee and his Clinic failed to recognize obvious symptoms of infection and sepsis surrounding Mr. Harris' left ankle and foot. (See photograph, Exh. 1, R. 1.)

The infection should have been obvious and Dr. Lee on the first visit should have administered aggressive antibiotic therapy. Instead, Dr. Lee repeatedly misdiagnosed Mr. Harris' illness as "gout" and sent him home with no antibiotic therapy. After several days since the first misdiagnosis, Mr. Harris was taken to the emergency room where he was properly diagnosed as suffering from severe sepsis. By this time it was too late. Mr. Harris' leg was amputated and he died days later.

(2) The Sheriff. On Wednesday night during the week prior to trial while attempting to retain local counsel to help the Harris Family choose a fair and impartial jury, the Harris Family and their counsel for the first time learned that Scott County Sheriff Mike Lee, whose statutory duties include official trial participation such as providing security for the jury, monitoring the jury, feeding the jury, etc., was the <u>son</u> of appellee Dr. Lee. (R. 3.) In addition to the Sheriff's official duties that bring his deputies and him into direct contact and direct communication with the jury, counsel for the Harris Family in their motion to change venue pointed out the obvious: that the entire venire depended on Dr. Lee's son and his department to serve and protect them and their families; and, just as importantly, to treat them and their

families fairly and impartially in the event they became the subject of a criminal charge or criminal investigation.³ Any objective jurist or trier of fact would conclude that such enormous dependence on Dr. Lee's son involving, literally, the life, liberty and property of the venire and their families makes it IMPOSSIBLE to choose a fair and impartial jury from Scott County where all of the venire live.

In light of this new evidence discovered on Wednesday night, the Harris Family on Friday filed and faxed to Your Honor and opposite counsel a motion to change venue, and attempted unsuccessfully to secure an emergency hearing. (R. 3-4.) So, the Harris Family brought the motion on for hearing on the Monday morning of the scheduled trial, i.e., the first available opportunity. (R. 2-8.)

When the Harris Family asked to argue the motion Honorable Gordon without hearing a word announced, "You have a motion for change of venue, and that's overruled." (R. 2.) Undersigned counsel insisted on making a record. Then, after having been "chastis[ed]" by Judge Gordon for not having filed the motion earlier, counsel for the Harris Family began explaining how jurors likely would be intimidated to return a verdict against the Sheriff's father:

BY THE COURT: You know, I know all that.

BY SHANE LANGSTON: Well, I'm making my record.

BY THE COURT: Well, the Supreme Court Judges know that, too, and I don't want to hear all of that argument.

(R. 6.)

. . .

Opposite counsel argued that the motion was untimely because Dr. Lee in his deposition six months earlier had identified "Mike Lee" as one of his children. (R. 5.) Undersigned counsel responded that Miss. Code Ann. §11-11-51 (1972) on its face allows the motion to be made "as

³ Juror Ethel Mangum, who the court refused to strike for cause, has a grandson who was under criminal investigation by the Scott County Sheriff's Department. (R. 50. 72-73.)

soon as convenient after being advised of such undue influence, prejudice, or other cause"

<u>Id</u>. (emphasis added). The "undue influence, prejudice, or other cause" in the context of the case *sub judice* is not whether the Harris Family knew that Dr. Lee had a son named "Mike Lee". The issue is when did the Harris Family or their counsel learn that Dr. Lee's son was the Sheriff of Scott County:

BY SHANE LANGSTON: - - after being advised of such undue influence, prejudice, or other cause. We were just advised Wednesday night, and I'll state that under oath.

BY THE COURT: Did you hear the lady's [Ms. Morris'] statement that that was developed during deposition as to Dr. Lee's relatives?

BY SHANE LANGSTON: In deposition Dr. Lee testified that his son was Mike Lee. We didn't know Mike Lee. He didn't say he was the Sheriff of Scott County. We did not know that Mike Lee was the Sheriff of Scott County until Wednesday night. It's an objective standard when we were advised. We were advised Wednesday night.

(R. 7) (emphasis added).

In other words, long before trial Judge Gordon knew of the relationship. Dr. Lee, of course, knew of the relationship. Opposite Counsel knew of the relationship.⁴ Circuit Court Clerk Rigby knew of the relationship. But, despite actual and constructive knowledge of the significant role that the Sheriff and his deputies and bailiffs were to play in the actual trial of this cause, none of the above made any effort to advise the Harris Family or their counsel of the relationship. The fact that the motion was filed on the eve of trial is not the fault of the Harris Family. If any fault is to be assigned, it should be assigned to Judge Gordon, appellee Dr. Lee and his counsel for sitting silent when they had actual knowledge of an IMPOSSIBLY prejudicial situation. And, regardless, the objective standard of §11-11-51 regarding timeliness without doubt was satisfied.

⁴ Even Dr. Lee's own attorneys, who had been representing him for well over a year, were unaware of this relationship until "a couple of months before trial" (R. 529.) They, nonetheless, chose to remain silent.

(3) Patients of appellee Dr. Lee and appellee the Clinic / Ties to Sheriff. The evidence of prejudice and bias continued to mount during the *voir dire* process. As expected in this rural county, twenty (20) of the fifty-two (52) potential jurors in the venire (or 38%) admitted that they or their immediate family members were patients of Dr. Lee or his Clinic.⁵ (See details below, pp. 8-9.) Ten (10) jurors or their families either worked for the Sheriff's Department or had a close relationship with the Sheriff's department. (See details below, pp. 8-9.) The Harris Family moved to strike all of these potential jurors for cause. (R. 66-67.) With one exception, the lower court denied all these for cause challenges.⁶

Perhaps most illustrative of the bias and prejudice exhibited by Judge Gordon during the *voir dire* process is His Honor's ruling on the Harris Family's challenge to potential juror Bonny Gordon who was seated on the very first jury panel. (R. 20.) This juror admitted during the Monday morning voir dire that <u>she herself had been treated by Dr. Lee during the past thirty days</u> <u>AND that she was taking her son to visit appellee Dr. Lee on Friday of the same week</u>. (R. 20, 33.) She also was related to Dr. Lee's wife's family, "[b]y marriage", according to Judge Gordon. (R. 68.) My goodness, although it was conceivable that the trial would still be in progress during this scheduled visit, Judge Gordon denied the Harris Family's request that Ms. Gordon be stricken for cause. (R. 67-68.) The Harris Family was forced to exercise a peremptory strike. (R. 74.)

⁵ It may be presumed that the balance of the venire were patients of Dr. Howard Clark and his clinic, i.e., the only other medical clinic in Scott County. This prejudice, as discussed below, was intentionally interjected by counsel for Dr. Lee.

⁶ One former patient, Ivan Kiani, was stricken *sua sponte* because Mr. Kiani believed Dr. Lee had misdiagnosed one of his children. (R. 59.) Curiously and inexplicably, Willie Bowie was the only potential juror challenged by the Harris Family and stricken because he was a patient of Dr. Lee and the Clinic. (R. 40, 71.) Neither Mr. Bowie nor his family had visited Dr. Lee or the Clinic during the previous 30 days, i.e., an arbitrary "for cause" threshold established by Judge Gordon. (R. 20-22.) Judge Gordon offered no explanation of why he viewed Mr. Bowie in a light so different than the other patients.

Another example of Judge Gordon's extreme bias in the voir dire process is his refusal to strike potential juror Ronald Wade. Mr. Wade acknowledged that, "I use the [appellee/co-defendant] clinic regular" and had done so "for years"; that he had used the Clinic as recently as the past "three or four months"; and that he would use the Clinic again if he got sick "next week". (R. 33-34.) Strike for cause denied. (R. 69.)⁷

Similarly, the lower court showed extreme bias and prejudice by refusing to strike for cause the following potential jurors: Emily Baker (acquaintance; current patient and would see Dr. Lee "next week" if sick; friend of Sheriff Lee) (R. 36, 67, 69); Leland Burchfield (brother-in-law current Scott County Deputy Sheriff (R. 51, 69); Michael Kincaid (patient; friend of Sheriff; provided legal representation by Dr. Lee's relative Roy Noble Lee) (R. 36, 47, 69); Tammy White (she and family patients "for years") (R. 37, 70); Jacqueline Bobbitt (she and family patients "for years") (R. 37, 70); Jacqueline Bobbitt (she and family patients "for years") (R. 37, 70); Jacqueline Bobbitt (she and family patients "for years") (R. 37, 71); Meosha Loper (former patient of Dr. Lee and Clinic) (R. 38, 70); Charles Hines (nephew works for Dr. Lee's son) (R. 51, 70); Paula Lewis (appellee Clinic is her "family clinic" and she has seen all three doctors in Clinic including Dr. Lee)⁸ (R. 39, 71); Betty Little (personal friend for "years" of both Dr. Lee and his son Sheriff Lee) (R. 48, 72); Royial Joseph (patient of Clinic and considers Clinic "family clinic") (R. 40-41); Angela Course (Dr. Lee and Clinic her "family doctors"; Dr. Lee "delivered my baby") (R. 42, 73); Freddie Beatty (appellee Clinic his "family clinic") (R. 42, 73); Ethal Mangum (grandson under arrest by Sheriff Lee's department) (R. 50. 72).⁹

⁷ Again, Judge Gordon offered no explanation of why Mr. Bowie deserved to be stricken but Mr. Wade did not.

⁸ In refusing to strike Ms. Lewis for cause Judge Gordon reasoned, "She said they go to all doctors [including Dr. Lee] there [the Clinic], though. Overruled." In all due respect, this reasoning was baffling.

⁹ When undersigned counsel noted that potential juror Gwendolyn Dillon was acquainted with the Sheriff, Judge Gordon commented, "Good looking, though. We'll keep her. Overruled." (R. 73) Then, when undersigned counsel clarified that the Harris Family was not moving to strike Ms. Dillon counsel for Dr. Lee moved to strike her because Ms. Dillon's husband was a former political opponent of Sheriff Lee. Not surprisingly but totally inconsistent with

Presented with an impossible task of choosing a fair and impartial jury, the Harris Family did the best they could. They exercised seven of their ten peremptory strikes in an attempt to choose whom they believed to be the least biased jurors.¹⁰ The Harris Family was forced to save peremptory strikes to eliminate multiple potential jurors whom the lower court refused to strike for cause.

(4) Deliberate, inflammatory, extreme prejudice interjected by counsel for Dr. Lee/Clinic. The trial progressed. Not content with the extreme jury bias that already existed in favor of her client, Mildred Morris, Esq., counsel for appellee Dr. Lee and his co-defendant Clinic, while examining a medical expert deliberately and with the intent to further prejudice the jury, asked, ". . . [C]an you tell me if you've been retained as an expert in the case where Mr. Langston is suing Dr. Howard Clark just up the road?"(R. 191)

This question was outrageous on many levels. Dr. Clark, who had resided and practiced medicine in Scott County for fifty-three (53) years, had the <u>only other</u> medical clinic in all of Scott County. He had delivered some 4,500 babies in this small community. For fifty-one (51) years he served as the team physician for all Morton High School athletic teams. He had long served as a Sunday school teacher in Morton at a church with a 350 person denomination. His son was the sole chancery judge in Scott County. (R. 905.) And, most damning, Dr. Clark likely was the treating physician for every juror who was not already being treated by appellee Dr. Lee.

Momentarily stunned and, quite literally, while attempting to avoid eye contact with the glaring jurors, undersigned counsel objected and asked Judge Gordon to instruct the jury to

the "for cause" standard applied to the Harris Family, Judge Gordon reversed himself and struck Ms. Dillon for cause. (R. 74.)

¹⁰ The practical impossibility of using all ten peremptory challenges without eliminating fair or "lesser biased" jurors will be discussed in the "Argument" below.

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