THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

**DOT MERCHANT, as Administratrix of the
Estate of Charles Ernie Harris, Sr. and on
behalf of all wrongful death beneficiaries
of Charles Ernie Harris, Sr.**

APPELLANTS

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-01622

**FOREST FAMILY PRACTICE CLINIC, P.A.,
JOHN P. LEE, M.D.,
And JOHN DOES 1-10**

APPELLEES

**APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF SCOTT COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI**

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

**James A. Becker, Jr., MSB # [REDACTED]
Anastasia G. Jones, MSB # [REDACTED]
Mildred M. Morris, MSB # [REDACTED]
Timothy Lee Sensing, MSB # [REDACTED]
WATKINS & EAGER, PLLC
400 East Capitol Street, Suite 300
Post Office Box 650
Jackson, Mississippi 39205
(601)948-6470**

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

Dr. Lee pursued a thorough investigation to search for evidence of a divorce in three (3) states (Washington, South Carolina, and Arkansas) and six (6) counties, where there had been testimony that the couple had lived. Certificates were obtained from each of those counties stating that there was no such divorce on file. Vol. 3, pp.355-60; R.E.A, pp. 355-60. Though Peggy Harris stated five times in her sworn deposition that she was divorced from McJunkin, as well as via other sworn affidavit testimony, there was never a divorce. Vol. 2, pp.199, 227-28; R.E.A, pp. 199, 227-28. Rather than come forward with the truth, the Estate remained silent.

Meanwhile, it had come to the attention of the Chancery Court of Leake County via pleadings filed in the Circuit Court of Scott County, that Peggy Harris may not be the lawful wife of the decedent. Vol. 3, pp. 367, 387, 417; R.E.A, pp. 367, 387, 417. At a hearing before the Chancery Court the Estate argued that Peggy Harris never attempted to mislead the court, that she testified truthfully at her deposition, and that she did not know her marital status because she had

no legal training. Vol. 3, pp. 374-75; R.E.A, pp. 374-75. The Estate also claimed that despite the fact there was no legal marriage, the Chancery Court would have appointed her as Administratrix anyway because the adult children of the decedent consented. Vol. 3, pp. 378-79, 394; R.E.A, pp. 378-79, 394. The chancellor responded vehemently that that was not so, that Peggy Harris was a stranger to the Estate and, as a stranger, she would not have been appointed without a heavy bond. Vol. 3, pp. 378-79, 394; R.E.A, pp. 378-79, 394. Though the chancery court did not accuse the Estate of fraud, it stated that the pleadings were misleading at best, were not accurate, and bordered on being false. Vol. 3, p. 395; R.E.A, p. 395.

After the chancellor's scolding, the Estate's counsel launched its first tirade declaring bias and impropriety. Specifically, counsel:

- 1) accused Judge Gordon and the chancellor of having had *ex parte* communications with each other about the alleged inappropriate appointment of Ms. Harris as Administratrix of the Estate; Vol. 3, pp. 375-76; R.E.A, pp. 375-76.
- 2) criticized and blamed Judge Gordon, at least three times, for sending pleadings to the Chancery Court regarding the case without having notified the Estate; Vol. 3, pp. 376, 379, 380; R.E.A, pp. 376, 379, 380.
- 3) accused Judge Gordon of having had *ex parte* communications with Dr. Lee's counsel, which said counsel denied; Vol. 3, pp. 380, 386; R.E.A, pp. 380, 386.
- 4) criticized Judge Gordon for not having notified him that he thought Ms. Harris should be removed as Administratrix; Vol. 3, p. 376; R.E.A, p. 376.
- 5) expressed extreme anger at Dr. Lee's counsel for having filed a Motion to Dismiss because of Plaintiff's lack of standing and asked for sanctions; Vol. 3, p. 378; R.E.A, p. 378.

6) accused the chancellor of having had *ex parte* communications with Dr. Lee's counsel, which she denied; Vol. 3, p. 380; R.E.A, p. 380.

7) criticized the chancellor for noticing Dr. Lee's counsel for the hearing because they were not parties to the proceedings; Vol. 3, p. 380; R.E.A, p. 380.

Ultimately, the chancellor concluded that Peggy Harris had no standing and could not stand as Administratrix. Vol. 2, pp. 284-85; R.E.A, pp. 284-85. Furthermore, the Chancery Court denied the Estate's motion to substitute one of the decedent's adult children as administrator because the adult children had said that they did not know that their mother was not the lawful wife of their father. Vol. 3, p. 395; Vol. 5, pp. 583, 586, 589; R.E.A pp. 395, 583, 586, 589.

After the Chancery Court hearing there was a hearing in the Circuit Court of Scott County where the Clerk of the Chancery Court of Leake County was substituted for Peggy Harris as Plaintiff and Administratrix. Supp. Vol. 1, p. 21; R.E.D, p. 21. At that hearing the court found it incredible that Peggy Harris claimed to have been divorced but did not know where she got her divorce. Supp. Vol. 1, p. 20; R.E.D, p. 20. The court also found it incredible that counsel for the Estate did not follow through with the responsibility to research the issue of her marital status. Supp. Vol. 1, pp. 20-21; R.E.D, pp. 20-21. Furthermore, the court stated that the chancellor's description of the Estate's lack of diligence as being derelict was not a strong enough term to describe the manner in which it handled its responsibility. Supp. Vol. 1, p. 19; R.E.D, p. 19.

Counsel for the Estate never acknowledged an understanding of the significance of the misrepresentations made to two courts and the responsibility both courts expressed that counsel had to represent the truth. Vol. 3, pp. 376-78, 393, 395; R.E.A, pp. 376-78, 393, 395. Instead, accusations of bias and prejudice began. Similar allegations persisted throughout and after the trial and form the basis of the Estate's appeal.

ARGUMENT AND DISCUSSION

I. APPELLANT/PLAINTIFF BELOW HAD A FAIR TRIAL AND THE MOTION TO CHANGE VENUE WAS PROPERLY DENIED;

At the outset, it is important to note that Appellees have a statutory right to venue in Scott County. Section 11-11-3(3) states:

Notwithstanding subsection (1) of this section, any action against a licensed physician, osteopath, dentist, nurse, nurse-practitioner, physician assistant, psychologist, pharmacist, podiatrist, optometrist, chiropractor, institution for the aged or infirm, hospital or licensed pharmacy, including any legal entity which may be liable for their acts or omissions, for malpractice, negligence, error, omission, mistake, breach of standard of care or the unauthorized rendering of professional services shall be brought only in the county in which the alleged act or omission occurred.

MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-11-3(3) (Rev. 2004). This statute mandates that Scott County, Mississippi is the only proper venue for this action. Plaintiff is asking this Court to ignore this statute without providing any justification for doing so.

The Estate essentially states that Defendants, Defendants' counsel, and the trial court had a duty to inform it of the fact that Sheriff Mike Lee is Dr. Lee's son. However, the Estate cites no authority to support this. Neither Dr. Lee nor the trial court had a duty to undertake the Estate's due diligence. Brief of Appellant, p. 16.

Appellant argues that a change of venue was proper simply because Sheriff Mike Lee is the son of Dr. Lee. More specifically, Appellant argues that a change of venue was proper because Sheriff Lee would be required to participate in the trial and have direct communications with jurors. Brief of Appellant, p. 16.

Also, the Estate claims it was impossible to field a fair and impartial jury in Scott County because of the relationship between Dr. Lee and Sheriff Lee. Brief of Appellant, p. 5. Appellant argues that it was "IMPOSSIBLE to choose a fair and impartial jury from Scott County" because

the entire venire depends on Sheriff Lee and his deputies to protect them and their families. Brief of Appellant, pp. 6, 16. Rebutting this argument, the trial judge stated, “[i]t is a matter of record that Mike Lee is the son of Dr. John Paul Lee... [and the] fact that he is a son, that in and of itself, does not entitle you to have me to sustain your motion for change of venue.” R. Vol. 10, p. 4. R.E.B, p. 4. Furthermore, the fact that Sheriff Lee resides in the county does not automatically signify a favorable verdict for Dr. Lee. The trial judge noted that he had presided over many cases where Sheriff Lee testified as a witness against a criminal defendant who was acquitted in a trial by jury. R. Vol. 11, p. 254; R.E.B, p. 254. As the trial judge stated, “I’m not going to presume that a juror cannot be fair and impartial just simply because they know that the Sheriff will be called if they have a need for law enforcement. I’m not going to presume that the jurors will be prejudiced by the fact that the Defendant in this case is a local doctor.” R. Vol. 10, p. 7; R.E.B, p. 7. Thus the court emphasized that it has witnessed on numerous occasions where a jury was not influenced by a sheriff’s affiliation with one party in a case.

Case law is in agreement with the trial court’s ruling, as the Supreme Court has held on more than one occasion that the fact that a sheriff or court official is related to a party in a case is not grounds to grant a change of venue motion.

The facts in *Bond v. State*, 91 So. 461 (Miss. 1922) are strikingly similar to those in this case. In *Bond*, a motion for change of venue was made because the men who were killed in that case were members of large and prominent families in the community and a great number of the veniremen were related to them, as well as the sheriff. *Id.* at 462. The trial court denied the motion, which the Supreme Court affirmed because these facts alone were not enough to support that the motion should have been granted. *Id.* at 465-66. The Supreme Court noted that the sheriff had not summoned the venire but had authorized a deputy to do so. *Id.* at 466. There was no evidence of

fraud and it would not be presumed that the deputy did anything other than his duty in summoning the venire. *Id.*

Also, in *Adams v. State*, 944 So.2d 86, 89 (Miss. App. 2006), the trial court denied a motion to change venue because of pre-trial publicity and because the twin sibling of the victim was the deputy circuit clerk. The court stated that the motion was not supported by any case law that the employment of the victim's twin required a change of venue. Furthermore, the court found that there was an adequate opportunity during voir dire to question the members of the venire and an opportunity to challenge jurors for cause and peremptorily. *Id.* Likewise, the Estate offers no case law to support that Dr. Lee's position or employment as sheriff requires a change of venue. In addition, the Estate had ample opportunity to challenge jurors. Vol. 10, pp. 74-76; R.E.B, pp. 74-76.

In *Fondren v. State* the Supreme Court affirmed the trial court in overruling a motion to quash the jury panel because several of the jurors were related to the sheriff. *Fondren v. State*, 175 So. 2d 628, 637 (Miss. 1965). Further, the Supreme Court found it was in the trial court's discretion to permit the sheriff to sit in the courtroom even though he was a witness in the case because he was an officer of the court. *Id.*

The Estate also claims it was the sole responsibility of Dr. Lee and the lower court to inform it that Mike Lee was a sheriff. Appellant has failed to cite a single rule of law or authority on the matter. Appellant has been aware since Dr. Lee's deposition in 2008 that Mike Lee was Dr. Lee's son. R. Vol. 10, p.5; R.E.B., p. 5. The Estate did not inquire at the deposition as to Mike Lee's occupation. Furthermore, there is no obligation on Dr. Lee to disclose such information. Instead of exercising due diligence, the Estate blamed "Judge Gordon, appellee Dr. Lee and his counsel." Brief of Appellant, p. 7.²

² It is important to note that Sheriff Lee was not in town during the trial and did not attend any part of the trial. Vol. 8, p. 1120; R.E.A, p. 1120; Vol. 13, p. 519; R.E.B, p. 519.

The trial court addressed this very issue, noting that it was an easy matter of discovery, and one which was the responsibility of Plaintiff's counsel. Vol. 10, p.4; R.E.B, p. 4. The fact that Mike Lee is the Sheriff of Scott County is a matter of public record and is easily and quickly discovered.³ In a desperate, last minute attempt to change venue, Appellant chose to file a Motion to Transfer at 3:00 p.m. on Friday, May 31, 2008, less than 72 hours before the trial was set to begin on Monday. Vol. 10, p. 6; R.E.B, p. 6. Importantly, the Estate has not provided any evidence that it was in any way prejudiced by Sheriff Lee's relationship to Dr. Lee, nor did their relationship cause the Estate to receive an unfair trial.

Of the twelve jurors, none had a connection to Sheriff Lee. Only the alternate juror, William Davis, had an indirect connection to the Sheriff. He stated during voir dire that his brother-in-law was employed as a dispatcher for the Sheriff's Department but that he could be fair and impartial in the trial. Vol. 10, pp. 50-51; R.E.B, pp. 50-51. However, the record indicates that the alternate juror did not serve as a juror since no juror vacated his seat. Vol. 13, p. 474; R.E.B, p. 474.

Also, the Estate claimed prejudice because Dr. Lee was a physician in the community. Brief of Appellant, p. 8. Of the twelve jurors, two stated there was a connection to Dr. Lee or to the Clinic.⁴ Those jurors were Ronald Wade and Meosha Loper. Vol. 10, pp. 33, 34, 39; R.E.B, pp. 33, 34, 39. Juror Ronald Wade had never seen Dr. Lee as a patient but used another doctor at the Clinic. It had been three or four months since he had been to the Clinic. Vol. 10, p. 33; R.E.B. p. 33. Juror Meosha Loper had seen Dr. Lee in the past but had used another doctor at another clinic for the last

³ Judge Gordon discussed this with Estate's counsel. He stated, "If you did not know that Mike was the son of Dr. John Paul Lee, then you should be looking at your associate there or your investigator, because that was such an easy matter of discovery that one little simple phone call would have alerted you to that, certainly by the fact of the name of Dr. Lee and son, Mike Lee." R. Vol. 10, p. 4; R.E.B, p. 4.

⁴ A third juror, Deborah Ennis, thought her mother was a patient at the Clinic but was mistaken. Vol. 10, p. 34. She thought the Clinic was on Highway 35 but that is not where Forrest Family Practice Clinic is located. Vol. 10, p. 34; R.E.B, p. 34. It is located on Medical Lane. Vol. 1, p. 4; R.E.A, p. 4.

four years. Vol. 10, p. 39; R.E.B, p. 39. Both Jurors Wade and Loper indicated during voir dire that they could be fair and impartial in the case. Vol. 10, pp. 16, 32, 39; R.E.B, pp. 16, 32, 39.

In reviewing whether a motion for change of venue was properly overruled, the trial itself is reviewed from its conclusion. *Bond v. State*, 91 So. 461, 465 (Miss. 1922). If it is found to be free of bias, the court's ruling should be affirmed. *Id.* Because no member of the jury had a connection with Sheriff Lee, the Estate can not claim that his relationship to Dr. Lee resulted in prejudice. Because the two jurors who had prior contacts with Dr. Lee or the Clinic said they could be fair and impartial, the Estate cannot claim prejudice on the basis of that relationship either. The jurors' promise is entitled to considerable deference. *Heaney v. Hewes*, 8 So. 3d 221, 226 (Miss. App. 2008).

When reviewing the trial court's denial of a motion to change venue on appeal, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. *Crenshaw v. Roman*, 942 So. 2d 806, 809 (Miss. 2006). Thus, on appeal, a trial court's ruling will not be overturned "unless it clearly appears that there has been an abuse of discretion or that the discretion has not been justly and properly exercised under the circumstances of the case." *Crenshaw*, 942 So.2d at 806. The Estate has provided no factual evidence of prejudice or any supporting law to show that the trial court abused its discretion in denying its Motion to Change Venue. The trial court was correct in denying the Motion to Change Venue.

II. APPELLANT/PLAINTIFF BELOW WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY THE TRIAL COURT FOR NOT STRIKING CERTAIN JURORS FOR CAUSE.

Although the Estate's arguments regarding error in the jury selection process are incorrect, the issue is moot. Stated differently, even if the Estate were correct regarding the Court's decision to strike jurors for cause, the result is harmless error since the Estate did not utilize all of its peremptory challenges. It is long established Mississippi precedent that reversal is not warranted

unless both error and injury are shown. *Gray v. State*, 799 So. 2d 53, 61 (Miss. 2001). In fact, “[e]rror is harmless when it is trivial, formal, or merely academic, and not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and where it in no way affects the final outcome of the case” *Id.* Specifically, within the context of juror selection, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that “before a trial court could be put in error for denying a challenge for cause the record should show that the complaining party exhausted his peremptory challenges.” *Knotts by Knotts v. Hassel*, 659 So. 2d 886, 891 (Miss. 1995).

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